RECEIVED 01-21-2020

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP2138

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JOSEPH K. EDWARDS,

Defendant-Appellant.

Appeal of a Written Decision and Final Order Entered November 4, 2019 in Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 16CF713, Denying Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, Circuit Court Jean M. Kies, Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

James A. Walrath
State Bar No. 1012151
LAW OFFICES OF JAMES A.
WALRATH, LLC.
324 E. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1410
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202
(414) 202-2300

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did the trial court err when it declined to give WIS JI Criminal 1900's "true threat" jury instruction and ruled that the State's disorderly conduct prosecution was not predicated upon threats towards S.G. even though: (1) the prosecution's closing arguments claimed that Edwards' statements had frightened S.G.; (2) the court ruled at the close of the State's case that Edwards' statements alone supported the prosecution's charge of disorderly conduct; (3) the court's post-conviction ruling found that Edwards had directed "disturbing" remarks at S.G.; (4) the court nonetheless instructed the jury to consider Edwards' statements as evidence; and (5) the court also instructed that disorderly conduct may include verbal acts?
- II. Did the trial court err by holding that, assuming for the sake of argument that the "true threat" paragraph in WIS JI Criminal 1900 should have been included in the disorderly conduct jury instruction, the omission was harmless?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Appellant Joseph K. Edwards does not request oral argument because, consistent with Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.22(2)(b), the written arguments can fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side so that oral argument would be of marginal value.

Publication is not warranted under Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.23(1)(a)2 because the issues do not involve the application of established rules of law to a fact situation significantly different from that in published opinions, and do not present other reasons for publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 7, 2016 Joseph Edwards was charged with engaging in "otherwise disorderly conduct" in violation of Wis. Stat. § 947.01(1). The complaint also included a penalty enhancer for possession of a dangerous weapon. A three-day jury trial was conducted on July 9-11, 2018.

The court preliminarily instructed the jury panel during *voir dire* that the complaint alleged that Edwards engaged in "otherwise disorderly conduct." (July 9 at 20). At the close of the State's evidence, the court denied the defense motion to dismiss, stating the evidence showed that Edwards had knocked on S.G's door "and having these kinds of creepy conversations with her" which was "almost ... stalker-like behavior." (July 10 p.m. at 57-58). The court then stated: "I think *these statements* alone have shown that Mr. Edwards, if I view the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, there was otherwise disorderly conduct engaged in by Mr.

-2-

¹ Trial transcript page references for proceedings on July 9, July 10 a.m., July 10 p.m., and July 11, 2018 will appear throughout this motion as "July 9 at ____, July 10 a.m. at ____, July 10 p.m. at ____, and July 11 at ____," respectively.

Edwards...." (Id. at 58). (Emphasis added).

At the closing instruction conference the court stated that it planned to include language from WIS JI-Criminal 1900 that "otherwise disorderly conduct" may be "committed by words or acts," but it would take out a portion of the standard disorderly conduct instruction relating to threats.² (Emphasis added.) Neither the prosecution nor the defense had an objection. (Id. at 77). Later, defense counsel confirmed that he had no objection because "in this case there was no sort of threats being made, as the Court did indicate." (Id. at 80).

The closing instruction tracked WIS JI Criminal 1900 (July 11 at 11-12), with the *Perkins*-based "true threat" portion deleted. However, the court did instruct, in accordance with WIS JI Criminal 1900, that "otherwise disorderly conduct," "may include physical acts or language or both." (Id. at 11). (Emphasis added.) The court also instructed, based on WIS JI Criminal 180, that the jury that it could consider the defendant's "statements."

> The State has introduced evidence of statements which it claims were made by the defendant. It is for you to determine how much weight, if any, to give to each statement. In evaluating each statement, you must determine three things: Whether the statement was actually made by the defendant. Only so much of a statement as was actually made by a person may be considered evidence. Whether the statement was accurately restated here at trial and whether the statement or any part of it ought to be believed. You should consider that facts and circumstances surrounding the making of each statement along with all the other evidence in determining how much weight, if any, that the statement

² Based on State v. Perkins, 2001 WI 46, 243 Wis.2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762, WIS JI Criminal 1900 provides a description of the circumstances in which the court should include the portion relating to statements or conduct constituting a threat: WHERE THE STATE'S CASE RELIES ON STATEMENTS OR CONDUCT THAT MAY CONSTITUTE A THREAT, THERE MUST BE A TRUE THREAT. ADD THE FOLLOWING."

deserves.

(July 11 at 16-17). Thereafter, the jury returned a verdict of guilty for disorderly conduct while possessing a dangerous weapon (Id. at 44-45).

The court sentenced Edwards on July 13, 2018 to a maximum term of nine months in the House of Correction (July 13 at 23). At that proceeding the court noted that Edwards caused S.G. to be "frightened" (Id. at 18), and that his words were "creepy," and his conduct was "stalking-type behavior," that "caused [S.G.] to feel emotional distress." (Id. at 19).

Defendant's timely post-conviction motion was decided and denied by Circuit Judge Jean M. Kies on November 4, 2019.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The prosecution's trial evidence showed that on May 16, at about 8:30 p.m., S.G. had arrived home, had parked her car in her garage, and was walking towards her back door, when she exchanged greetings with Joseph Edwards, who was nearby, in which he remarked that he knew her foster son (although she did not have a foster son). This alarmed S.G. and so she continued into her house (July 10 a.m. at 19-21). She then heard Joseph Edwards knocking at her front door, which caused her to be frightened and scared (Id. at 21, 24). She reacted by calling the emergency telephone "911" number, and then by calling her neighbor, Holly Dobbertin, for assistance (Id. at 21). Then she went to a neighbor, Glen Boudwine's home, and met up with Dobbertin and Boudwine. About five or ten minutes later Edwards also went towards Boudwine's home (Id. at 25, 37, 59) while carrying a bag or backpack (Id. at 43, 63-64). Edwards, at least according to S.G. but not Dobbertin, at some point removed a machete from the backpack (Id. at 25). He then started to leave after Boudwine threatened to shoot him (Id. at 45). Police officers arrived (July 10 p.m. at 32), and Officer Letitia Holloway observed that Edwards was then carrying a knife or machete in his hand (Id. at 33); they ordered him to drop it, and he was then arrested.

S.G. testified that she was scared and frightened. But she agreed that Edwards had not made overt or explicit threats, had not followed her to her back door, had not been yelling, had not cursed, and had not kicked the front door (July 10 a.m. at 28-30). She had not asked him to leave and did not tell him that he was scaring her (Id. at 33).

Dobbertin testified that after receiving S.G.'s call she went over to her house, and told Edwards to leave S.G. alone, to which he replied, as he was standing across from the house on the opposite side of the street, that he "just wanted to talk" (Id. at 56). He made no overt or explicit threats (July 10 p.m. at 15). She did not see him display a machete at any time between that verbal exchange and the time when she went over to Boudwine's house and stood outside with Boudwine and his wife for ten to fifteen minutes until the police arrived (July 10 a.m. at 58-59; July 10 p.m. at 15, 19, 25).

Dobbertin also testified that S.G. had previously made similar calls to her and had stated then that she was afraid to go to her window because someone was at her front door. Dobbertin testified that S.G. appeared to be "paranoid." (Id. at 23-24, 27). Dobbertin stated that S.G. had called 911 several times and that she had checked on S.G. at least three times after S.G. called to say that someone was at her front door (Id. at 27).

Officer Holloway testified that, after being dispatched to the S.G. home location on a 911 call, she observed Edwards (Id. at 31), and heard her partner order him to "drop the knife" (Id. at 33). Edwards complied and then was arrested (Id). A machete (as shown in Ex. 2) was placed on police inventory, though later destroyed. She did not know if Edwards had made any threats (Id. at 38) and she had not observed him making threats, yelling, screaming, or cursing (Id. at 52).

Defense witness, SPD investigator Connie Culpepper, testified as to her post-complaint interview of S.G. Culpepper testified that S.G. stated that Edwards had not explicitly

Case 2019AP002138 Brief of Appellant Filed 01-21-2020 Page 9 of 21

threatened her (Id. at 67). Culpepper testified that when she interviewed Dobbertin, that Dobbertin said that S.G. "is very paranoid" when someone is at her front door (Id. at 69-70).

In his closing argument, the prosecutor argued that Edwards' statements to S.G. while he was at the front door "completely frightened" S.G. (July 11 at 19). In his rebuttal closing, he argued that it was a two-part statement by Edwards (first, when he said he knew she had no husband, and second, when he said he had been watching her) that frightened S.G. and prompted her to call 911 (Id. at 38).

In his closing argument, defense counsel argued that S.G. had "overreacted," that there were no threats, that she had "jumped to a conclusion" about Edwards and that "she assumed the worst of him." (Id. at 26), that she was "paranoid" (Id. at 30), and that S.G. was "oversensitive," (Id. at 23) having called the police numerous times (Id. at 30).

Defense counsel argued that Edwards' statements towards S.G, perhaps were frightening to an oversensitive S.G., but they were not threats (Id. at 27):

There was [sic] no threats in this case, and there was not one thing the State can prove to you and nothing that was testified to about any sort of threats that were made by Mr. Edwards... And then Holly told you the exact same thing. She had no experiences with Mr. Edwards that constituted any sort of threat.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred when it declined to give WIS JI Criminal 1900's "true threat" jury instruction because: (1) the prosecution's closing arguments claimed that Edwards' statements had frightened S.G.; (2) the court ruled at the close of the State's case that Edwards' statements alone supported the prosecution's charge of disorderly conduct; (3) the court instructed the jury to consider Edwards' statements as evidence; and (4) the court also instructed that disorderly conduct may include verbal acts.

Edward's post-conviction motion (R.) asserted that it was error for the court not to have included guidance from WIS JI Criminal 1900 regarding disorderly conduct based a defendant's statements – to distinguish a "true threat" from statements subject to the constitutional protection of free speech.³

Comment 5 to WIS JI Criminal 1900 notes that "[s]peech can be considered 'otherwise disorderly' if it is of a type that tends to disrupt good order. . . . [However, i]f the statements constitute threats, they must be 'true threats.'" The comment was referring to the "true threat" concept discussed in three cases: *State v. Perkins*, 2001 WI 46, 243 Wis.2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762; *State v. Douglas D.* 2001 WI 47, 243 Wis. 2d 204, 626 N.W.2d 726; and *State v. A.S.*, 2001 WI 48, ¶¶ 5-8, 243 Wis.2d 173, 626 N.W.2d 712.

There can be no issue that Edwards was charged and prosecuted for engaging in "otherwise disorderly conduct," which WIS JI Criminal 1900 states can be based on a defendant's words or speech.

Yet, in its post-conviction motion decision the trial court held that prosecution had not supported its "otherwise

³ Under the standard of review in this context this Court will reverse the trial court and order a new trial only if the jury instructions, taken as a whole, misled the jury or communicated an incorrect statement of the law. *See Miller v. Kim*, 191 Wis.2d 187, 194, 528 N.W.2d 72 (Ct.App.1995)

disorderly conduct" charge based on Edward's statements towards S.G.:

Page 11 of 21

The instant case is distinguishable from A.S. and Perkins because the State's prosecution for "otherwise disorderly conduct" was not predicated upon a threat but rather upon the totality of the defendant's behavior and all of the surrounding circumstances. The State did not need to prove that the defendant made a true threat in order to obtain a conviction for disorderly conduct as in *Perkins* or A.S. The State only needed to prove that the defendant engaged in "otherwise disorderly conduct" which tended to cause or provoke a disturbance. "Conduct will fall under the 'otherwise disorderly' provision if under the circumstances the conduct is of the type that tends to disrupt good order. The test requires an objective analysis of both the conduct and the circumstances." AS., supra at 198. In this instance, it was sufficient for the State to show that the defendant engaged in creepy, stalker-like behavior and that the victim was fearful for her safety and ran to a neighbor's house because she was in fear of the defendant. The State did not have to show that the defendant's conduct rose to the level of a "true threat" in order to obtain a conviction for disorderly conduct. Consequently, it was not error to omit the true threat portion from the disorderly conduct instruction.

(A. App. 104-105). (Emphasis added.)

In essence, the trial court found that the State had pursued a "stalker-like" case against Edwards within the framework of an "otherwise disorderly conduct" charge. The trial court's recognition that the prosecution had actually shoehorned a stalking charge into a disorderly conduct charge did not, however, erase the "true-threat-like" basis of the prosecution – that is, the prosecution's evidence of Edward's statements, the prosecution's arguments about the effect of those statements, the court's own findings about the effects of those statements, and the other jury instructions that directed the jury to weigh and consider Edward's statements as evidence related to the charge of "otherwise disorderly

⁴ The State may have decided not to mount a formal stalking charge against Edwards under Wis. Stats.§ 940.32 because of the more rigorous elements of the offense under Wis. Stats.

§ 940.32(2).

conduct."

The trial court erred because it overlooked the express admonition in WIS JI Criminal 1900 that is set out in capital letters, that directs a trial court to use the "true threat" paragraph:

WHERE THE STATE'S CASE RELIES ON STATEMENTS OR CONDUCT THAT MAY CONSTITUTE A THREAT, THERE MUST BE A TRUE THREAT, ADD THE FOLLOWING.

The test for whether the free speech protections in the "true threat" portion of WIS JI Criminal 1900 should have been included is not "what the State needed to prove" or whether its proof "was sufficient to show" otherwise disorderly conduct; rather the test is whether the State's case relied on statements by the defendant that could be construed by the jury either as threatening by their terms, or by their effects.

The State's complaint alleged that Edwards was charged with "otherwise disorderly conduct" precisely, as A.S. described, because he had "caused her to fear for her safety." The entire prosecutorial theme throughout trial was that Edwards' words and conduct had scared and frightened S.G., under circumstances that tended to cause or provoke a disturbance.

At least four other aspects of Edward's jury trial supplied the need for the trial court to include the protective "true threat" language in WIS JI Criminal 1900.

First, the prosecutor argued to the jury in his initial closing remarks that a factual basis for the disorderly conduct charge arose out of statements by Edwards; he stressed that the important evidence was about what Edwards had said to S.G.:

[H]e started walking towards her, and when he did, he said I'm here to see, I know your son. . . . I'm talking about your foster son. And she didn't have a foster son. So she was kind of creeped out.

* * *

⁵ She testified that while Edwards was at her front door, she started crying and she was so "frazzled" that she ran out the back door without her shoes on. (July 10 a.m. at 22).

And he says you don't have a husband, I know, I have been watching you.

Now at that point she is completely frightened. She calls 911. She calls a friend. And she gets the heck out of there. She runs across the street to her neighbor's house.

(July 11 at 19).

In his rebuttal closing argument he re-emphasized these points that the important evidence was what Edwards had stated and its effects on S.G.:

[Edwards] tells her I know your son. . . your foster son. She doesn't have a foster son. So she goes inside.

* * *

The defendant asked her what she was doing in her home, and she said we're busy. . . . She only called the cops and she called Ms. Dobbertin after the defendant said you don't have a husband, I know, I have been watching you.

That's when she calls the cops. That's when she calls her neighbor. I think there is two parts to that statement. You don't have a husband includes in it the implicit suggestion that she is alone. And then there is I know, I've been watching you, which I think is obvious in its tone. And it's the combination of you're alone, I now you're alone, I have been watching you that makes her frightened. . . . And that's when she leaves her house. To do what? Not to be alone. . . . That seems to be a logical response to the statement you don't have a husband, I know, I have been watching you.

(July 11 at 35-36).

Second, these prosecution arguments to the jury, that it should consider the defendant's statements and their effects on S.G., had been preceded by the court's specific instruction, based on WIS JI Criminal 180, that the jury could consider the defendant's statements:

The State has introduced evidence of statements which it claims were made by the defendant. It is for you to determine how much weight, if any, to give to each statement. In evaluating each statement, you must determine three things:

Whether the statement was actually made by the defendant. Only so much of a statement as was actually made by a person may be considered evidence. Whether the statement was accurately restated here at trial and whether the statement or any part of it ought to be believed. You should consider that facts and circumstances surrounding the making of each statement along with all the other evidence in determining how much weight, if any, that the statement deserves.

(July 11 at 16-17).

Third, despite that trial court's post-conviction ruling, it had acknowledged at the close of the State's case, that it was Edwards' statement (not his non-verbal conduct) that had supplied sufficient evidence to withstand a defense motion to dismiss at that point. The court stated that the evidence showed that Edwards had "these kinds of creepy conversations with her" which was "almost ... stalker-like behavior." (July 10 p.m. at 57-58). The court then stated: "I think these statements alone have shown that Mr. Edwards, if I view the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, there was otherwise disorderly conduct engaged in by Mr. Edwards...." (Id. at 58). (Emphasis added). If the trial court had found that Edwards' statements could be the sole basis for proving "otherwise disorderly conduct," there was nothing that restrained the jury from doing so as well.

Fourth, the disorderly conduct instruction that the court did give to the jury made it clear that the jury could indeed consider the defendant's statements – i.e., his verbal conduct -- when determining whether Edwards was guilty of "otherwise disorderly conduct." Hence, the trial court's analysis in its post-conviction motion decision that the prosecution's case "was not predicated upon a threat" overlooked how the jury, if it followed the court's instructions, could base its verdict on Edwards speech (i.e., his language or his words alone) alone; and the jury is presumed to have followed those instructions. State v. Truax, 151 Wis.2d 354, 362, 444 N.W.2d 432, 436 (Ct.App.1989). The court instructed, in accordance with WIS JI Criminal 1900, that "otherwise disorderly conduct," "may include physical acts or language or both. . . . It includes all acts or conduct as are of a nature to corrupt the public morals or tom outrage the sense of public decency whether committed

by words or acts. "(Id. at 11). (Emphasis added.)

Edward's defense counsel in effect argued to the jury that the evidence was insufficient to prove that Edwards had made any actionable threats or statements that expressed an intention to act with an intent to do harm. In essence, he argued that the evidence was insufficient to prove a "true threat." But, of course, the jury had not been instructed that it could view as one of the prosecution's theories of disorderly conduct to be a claim that Edwards had made "true threats" towards S.G.

Edward's counsel had contended from the outset that S. G. was hypersensitive and, according to her trusted neighbor Holly Dobbertin, she was paranoid when people knocked on her front door. Edwards' pleas (e.g., to just wanting to talk), his mistaken assertions (e.g., to knowing her foster son), and even his "creepy" statements, as the court and the prosecutor saw them (e.g., he knew she did not have a husband and that she was alone), would not, to a reasonable speaker, be interpreted by a reasonable listener as serious expressions of intent to do harm. Edwards' words may have been annoyingly unpleasant, or they may even have been likely to produce nervous, shivery apprehension in a reasonable person; but "creepy" statements are not the same as statements directly portending harm or injury.

But Edwards was not given the benefit of the WIS JI Criminal 1900's admonition that the jury should not find him guilty based on his language or his words if they did not amount to a "true threat."

II. The trial court erred by holding that the instruction omission was harmless.

Edward's substantial rights were affected because the omission of a "true threat" instruction put him at risk of conviction for having engaged in verbal conduct protected by the First Amendment — a risk that could have been avoided had the "true threat" instruction been included. It was that very risk that led the Court in *Perkins*, to rule that the jury instruction relating to the charged crime was constitutionally flawed, for failing to shield Perkins from a conviction based on constitutionally protected speech. *Perkins* held that the jury instruction was inadequate, and that the real controversy had

not been fully tried and that the defendant therefore was entitled to a new trial.

Without an instruction relating to the evidence elicited by the prosecution, reversible error resulted here, despite the absence of a requested instruction from the defense. That also was the precise holding in *Perkins*: "[T]his court may reverse a conviction based on a jury instruction regardless of whether an objection was made, when the instruction obfuscates the real issue or arguably caused the real controversy not to be fully tried."

Further, Justice Wilcox, in his concurring opinion at ¶ 55, explained that it is not permissible to apply the harmless error analysis in these situations. "As explained above, where jury instructions are devoid of explanation regarding an element of an alleged offense, . . . there can be no jury verdict on that particular element and, therefore, harmless error analysis—which analyzes cases in terms of the jury verdict—is inapplicable." Here, the jury never considered under the *Perkins* test of whether there was proof beyond a reasonable doubt that Edwards' statements, as the State's evidence and arguments had suggested, were truly threatening, and thereby constituted "otherwise disorderly" conduct.

In its post-conviction decision, the trial court concluded that there was no reasonable probability that the "true threat" instruction, had it been given, would have led the jury to acquit. (A. App. at 5). But *Perkins* indicates that, when a "true threat" instruction would have been warranted but was omitted, it is not appropriate to resort to the harmless error analysis.

But even if the omission of the instruction is subjected to harmless error analysis, Edward's conviction should be reversed. The identical issue arose in *State v. Moulton*, 310 Conn. 337, 78 A.3d 55 (2013) where the defense had not requested and the trial court had not given a "true threat" jury instruction in a breach of the peace prosecution, involving a disgruntled post office letter carrier who complained to an office employee in an angry tone about her supervisors, and who alluded to her returning to work and to shootings by another postal worker five days earlier where several coworkers were killed.

[W]e cannot conclude either that the defendant failed to

contest the state's claim that her statements constituted a true threat or that the state's evidence on that issue was overwhelming. On the contrary, the primary issue in the case was whether the defendant's statements did, in fact, constitute a serious expression of an intent to commit an act of violence. Moreover, although the jury reasonably could have found that the defendant's comments met that constitutional threshold, the jury also could have concluded that the comments, albeit ill-advised and inappropriate, represented the troubled musings of a distraught employee rather than a true or legitimate threat. We therefore agree with the Appellate Court that, if "the jury [had] been instructed properly, it is reasonably possible that it would have found that a reasonable person in the defendant's position would not have foreseen that her statements would be interpreted as a serious expression of an intent to harm but, rather, as mere banter, jest or exaggeration." State v. Moulton, supra, 120 Conn. at App. 344, 991 A.2d 728. In sum, the issue was one for the jury, properly instructed, to decide. We conclude, therefore, that the trial court's failure to instruct the jury on the true threat doctrine was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

State v. Moulton, 310 Conn. 337, 369, 78 A.3d 55, 75–76 (2013). Here, Edwards' defense counsel made the same argument – that Edwards' statements were not serious "true threats." And now, on this appeal, Edwards argues that the instruction omission did deprive him of the First Amendment's free speech protections.

The trial court on post-conviction shifted the analysis by stating that in its harmless error analysis it would look beyond Edwards' "creepy or disturbing remarks to the victim" and would instead consider "other circumstances" such as Edward's approach to S.G. while clothed in black, his banging on her front door, and his subsequent open possession of a machete. The court concluded that when considering "the totality of the circumstances of [Edwards'] behavior," Edwards had not explained how the jury's decision "would have been

_

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