Brief of Respondent

Filed 05-29-2020

Page 1 of 17

RECEIVED
05-29-2020
CLERK OF COURT OF APPEA
OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### **DISTRICT I**

Appeal Case No. 2019AP002138

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

JOSEPH K. EDWARDS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal of a Written Decision and Final Order Entered November 4, 2019 in Milwaukee County Circuit Court Case No. 16CM001596, Denying Motion for Post-Conviction Relief, Circuit Court Judge Jean M. Kies, Presiding

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

John Chisholm District Attorney Milwaukee County

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. Defense counsel failed to object during the jury instructions conferences and failed to request that the true threat paragraph be added, therefore the objection is waived.

Instruction and verdict conferences are governed by Wis. Stat. §805.13(3)(2017-2018). The statute instructs that the court shall hold a conference with the attorneys outside the presence of the jury. *Id.* The court shall then inform the attorneys of the instructions it will read the jury. "Failure to object at the conference constitutes a waiver of any error in the proposed instructions or verdict." *Id.* "[U]nobjected-to-errors are generally considered waived; and the rule applies to both the evidentiary and constitutional errors." *State v. Davis*, 199 Wis. 2d 513, 545 N.W.2d 244 (Ct. App. 1996) (citation omitted).

The statutorily required instruction conference occurred in the case at hand, both for the preliminary jury instructions as well as the closing instructions to the jury. (R65:3-5; R65:74-89 cont. R66:2-8). The court began discussions of final jury instructions orally in the afternoon on July 10, 2018. (R65:74-89) Following the discussion, the court provided a copy of the proposed jury instructions to the state and defense. (R65:86) Prior to the jury returning the following morning, July 11, 2018 both parties were asked if they wanted to be heard on the jury instructions. (R66:2) The State asked to add WIS JI-- Criminal 170, Circumstantial Evidence, and WIS JI-- Criminal 172, Circumstantial evidence: Flight, Escape, Concealment. (R66:3-4) These jury instructions were ultimately rejected and not given to the jury. (R66:8) Neither party mentioned any concern about the disorderly conduct jury instruction or made any request to have the true threat paragraph of the instruction included. (R65:74-89; R66:2-8) The court even suggested adding WIS JI - Criminal 180, Statements of the Defendant. (R65:83-84) Yet, neither the State nor the defense requested the "true threat" language in WIS JI – Criminal 1900, Disorderly Conduct. Based on the facts in the record as cited above, under Wis. Stat. 805.13(3), Edwards waived any error that may have resulted from not including the true threat instruction.

# II. The State did not rely on a true threat as an alternative theory prosecution to the disorderly conduct count.

The chief case Edwards cites in his post-conviction brief is *State v. Perkins*, 2001 WI 46, 243 Wis. 2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762, in which the Court held that,

"[T]his court may reverse a conviction based on a jury instruction regardless of whether an objection was made

when the instruction obfuscates the real issue or arguably cause the real controversy not to be fully tried."

State v. Perkins, 2001 WI 46, 243 Wis. 2d 141, 626 N.W.2d 762

In the Perkins case, the defendant was charged with one count of threatening a judge. The defendant did not object to the jury instruction as it was written and he was convicted of threat to a judge. The defendant then appealed. The Supreme Court discussed the elements of the jury instruction for the charge of threat to a judge and focused specifically on the element that required the jury to find the defendant threatened to cause bodily harm to the judge. The jury was not instructed as to what language would be sufficient to find the defendant did indeed threaten to cause bodily harm. Id. at 162. The Court found that because the jury was not provided with a definition of what constitutes a threat, they were not aware of what test needed to be applied in considering whether the defendant threatened bodily harm.

However, the *Perkins* case is factually distinguishable from the case at hand. Edwards argues that by not giving the true threat instruction the real controversy was not fully tried. Edwards then cites Justice Wilcox's concurring opinion in the Perkins case, arguing that where a jury instruction is missing an explanation regarding an element of an alleged offense, there can be no jury verdict on that element, therefore harmless error analysis is inapplicable. (Brief of Defendant-Appellant, p. 12-14.) That opinion does not apply to the case at hand because, unlike the Perkins case, the jury did not need to find that Edwards threatened S.G. That is not one of the elements of the disorderly conduct statute. The jury only need to find that Edwards engaged in, "otherwise disorderly conduct." (R23:2) Nothing in either element of the disorderly conduct instruction requires the jury to consider whether Edwards explicitly threatened S.G. and therefore the jury did not need to be instructed on how to define a threat.

The State did not rely on Edwards' statements as an alternative theory of prosecution. The State did not ask if Edwards threatened S.G. (R64:19-26) Rather, the State asked S.G. to describe the events of May 6, 2016 as she experienced

Case 2019AP002138 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-29-2020 Page 14 of 17

them. These events included S.G. arriving home from church, seeing a stranger dressed in all black approach her as she was closing her garage door and walking to her house, having an invasive conversation about a non-existent foster son, being trailed into her house, having her front door pounded on by Edwards, and finally learning that Edwards knew she did not have a husband because he had been watching her. (R64:19-24) It is impossible to separate Edwards words from his other actions. Any of Edwards actions constitute otherwise disorderly conduct, or "conduct having a tendency to disrupt good order and provoke a disturbance." WIS JI--Criminal 1900, Disorderly Conduct.

# III. Even if the court finds the true threat paragraph should have been given, the omission of that paragraph was harmless error.

Wis. Stat. §901.03(4)(2017-2018) recognizes the plain error doctrine. The plain error doctrine allows appellate courts to review errors that were otherwise waived by a party's failure to object. *State v. Jorgenson*, 2008 WI 60, 310 Wis. 2d, 137, 754 N.W.2d 77, *citing State v. Mayo*, 2007 WI 78, 29, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115. The existence of plain error will turn on the facts of the particular case. *Id.* at ¶23. The Supreme Court in *Jorgenson* explained:

The plain error doctrine allows appellate courts to review errors that were otherwise waived by a party's failure to object. Plain error is "so fundamental that a new trial or other relief must be granted even though the action was not objected to at the time. The error, however, must be "obvious and substantial." Courts use the plain error doctrine sparingly.

State v. Jorgenson, 2008 WI 60, 310 Wis. 2d, 137, 754 N.W.2d 77.

An error is considered harmless unless the error affects the substantial rights of the adverse party. The harmless error principle is outlined in Wis. Stat. § 805.18 (2017-2018). Although this section is in the code of civil procedures, it is applicable in criminal cases. *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985). The harmless error concept has a presumption against an error being prejudicial. *See City of* 

LaCrosse v. Jiracek Cos., 108 Wis. 2d 684, 324 N.W.2d 440 (Ct. App. 1982).

The Wisconsin Supreme Court in *Dyess* discussed the harmless-error test. *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 543-547. For an error to affect the substantial rights of a party, there must be a reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the outcome of the action or proceeding at issue. "A reasonable possibility of a different outcome is a possibility sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 544-545; See also *State v. Harvey*, 254 Wis. 2d 442 at 467. Error is harmless if it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. "If the error at issue is not sufficient to undermine the reviewing court's confidence in the outcome of the proceeding, the error is harmless." *Evelyn C.R. v. Tykila S.*, 2001 WI 110, ¶28, 246 Wis. 2d 1, 629 N.W. 2d 768.

In this case, Judge Kies was correct in her written decision that there is ample evidence for the jury to convict Edwards of disorderly conduct absent the true threat paragraph. Given the testimony at trial, there is no reasonable possibility of a different outcome, even if the true threat paragraph was given. Edwards has failed to show in his brief that the un-objected to error of the omission of the true threat instruction is plain error. Edwards argues in his brief, the trial courts reliance on a "totality of the circumstances" view of the evidence, including "true threat" evidence and lack of instruction went beyond the more limited, speech-based form of otherwise disorderly conduct. (Brief of the Defendant-Appellant, p. 15) Therefore, the trial court improperly upheld Edwards' conviction for otherwise disorderly conduct using an approach that was not presented to the jury. *Id.* Edwards makes this conclusory assertion without any analysis or support to establish how the omission of the true threat paragraph is fundamental, obvious, or substantial.

Assuming, *arguendo*, that Edwards met his burden of establishing plain error, the burden shifts to the State to prove the omission is harmless. S.G. testified on direct examination she arrived home from church and parked in her garage. (R64: 20) After letting her garage door down, she noticed someone was across the street. (R64:20) S.G. stated that the individual,

Case 2019AP002138 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-29-2020 Page 16 of 17

later identified as Edwards, began talking with her in seconds. S.G. testified that Edwards, dressed in all black, began knocking and then banging on the front door. (R64:22, 50) Edwards then followed S.G. to her neighbor's house and pulled a machete from a bag he was carrying. (R64:25) In this case, it is entirely reasonable for the jury to have found Edwards guilty of disorderly conduct because S.G. testified that Edwards engaged in behavior that falls within the first element of disorderly conduct, and his behavior, under the circumstances as they existed, would have tended to cause or provoke a disturbance.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons herein, the State asks that the court affirm the denial of Edwards' motion for post-conviction relief.